Nutritional Neurosciences

Wael Mohamed Firas Kobeissy *Editors*

Nutrition and Psychiatric Disorders



Nutritional Neurosciences

Series Editor

Mohamed Essa, Sultan Qaboos University, Qaboos, Oman

This book series aims to publish volumes focusing on both basic and clinical research in the field of nutritional neuroscience with a focus on delineating the effect of nutrition on brain function and behavior. The books will examine the role of different nutrients, food agents and supplements (both macro and micro) on brain health, neurodevelopment, neurochemistry, and behaviour. The books will examine the influence of diet, including phytochemicals, antioxidants, dietary supplements, food additives, and other nutrients on the physiology and metabolism of neurons, neurotransmitters and their receptors, cognition, behavior, and hormonal regulations.

The books will also cover the influence of nutrients and dietary supplements on the management of neurological disorders. It details the mechanism of action of phytonutrients on signaling pathways linked with protein folding, aggregation, and neuroinflammation. The books published in the series will be useful for neuroscientists, nutritionists, neurologists, psychiatrists, and those interested in preventive medicine. Wael Mohamed • Firas Kobeissy Editors

Nutrition and Psychiatric Disorders



Editors Wael Mohamed Basic Medical Science Department, Kulliyyah of Medicine International Islamic University Malaysia (IIUM) Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia

Firas Kobeissy Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics American University of Beirut Beirut, Lebanon

 ISSN 2730-6712
 ISSN 2730-6720
 (electronic)

 Nutritional Neurosciences
 ISBN 978-981-19-5020-9
 ISBN 978-981-19-5021-6
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5021-6
 ISBN 978-981-19-5021-6
 (eBook)

 ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore In deep respect and with true love, I would like to dedicate this book to my best friend, forever and always, MYSELF.

> Wael Mohamed Pahang Malaysia

To my mentor and colleague, the chair of the Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics at the American University of Beirut, Professor Julnar Usta, whose honesty and knowledge touch the heart and mind of everyone working with her, I dedicate this humble work.

> Firas Kobeissy Beirut Lebanon

Contents

Part	I Food, Brain Functions, and Behavior	
1	Nutrition and Brain Functions in Health and Disease	3
2	Nutrition, Cognitive Functions, and Emotions Pegah Javadpour, Sahar Askari, and Rasoul Ghasemi	27
3	Ketogenic Diet: Implications for Treatment and Injury in Neuropsychiatry and Motor Functioning	51
4	Effects of Malnutrition on Brain Development Pranshul Sethi, Aradhana Prajapati, Tejesvi Mishra, Tanu Chaudhary, and Sumit Kumar	75
5	Nutrition, Neurotransmitters, and Behavior	89
6	OMICS in Schizophrenia and Alzheimer's Disease Aradhana Prajapati, Tejesvi Mishra, Sumit Kumar, and Pranshul Sethi	109
Part	TI Psychiatric Disorders Related to Nutrition: Deficiency or Overload	
7	Effects of Depression and Antidepressant Therapy on Serum Zinc Levels	123
8	Nutrition and Depression	139

9	Nutritional Deficiencies in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorderand Possible Treatment InterventionsPranshul Sethi, Sumit Kumar, Aradhana Prajapati,Zakariya Irfanullah, Chonnakarn Jatchavala, Ramyadarshni Vadivel,and Samer El Hayek	171
10	Caffeine, Mental Well-Being, and Psychiatric Disorders Ahmed Radwan, Anas Al Jazairi, Nada Qaddourah, Sara Ahmed, Sultan Albrahim, Bushra Elhusein, and Omar Qaddourah	201
11	Biopsychology of Chocolate Craving Laura Orsolini, Angelica Cicolini, Virginio Salvi, and Umberto Volpe	221
12	Food Addiction Samer El Hayek, Vanessa Padilla, Mario Eid, and Andrés Jovel	243
13	Nutrition and Anxiety Disorders	273
14	Nutrition and Substance-Use Disorder	289
15	Nutrition and Psychiatric Disorders: Focus on Schizophrenia Heba M. Mansour	313
16	High-Fat Diet and Psychiatric Disorders: What Is the Interplay? Pranshul Sethi, Tanu Chaudhary, Tejesvi Mishra, Aradhana Prajapati, and Sumit Kumar	369

Chapter 13 Nutrition and Anxiety Disorders



Ramli Musa

Contents

13.1	Introduction	274
	13.1.1 What Are Anxiety Disorders?	274
	13.1.2 How Does Anxiety Could Be Related to Nutrition?	274
	13.1.3 Food and Brain Functions	276
	13.1.4 Can Diet Modification or Healthy Diet Improve the Anxiety?	277
13.2	Food Improving Anxiety	279
13.3	Dietary Patterns Causing Anxiety	280
13.4	Food Causing Anxiety	281
	13.4.1 Relationships Between Caffeine and Anxiety	281
	13.4.2 Other Types of Food Related to Anxiety	282
13.5	New Food Dimension	282
13.6	Anxiety, Stress, and Inflammation	282
13.7	Microbiome and Mental Health	283
13.8	Conclusion	284
Refere	ences	285

Abstract Food and anxiety are interrelated to each other in various relationships. Food may worsen the anxiety symptoms; hence, modification of food intake would certainly help in alleviating some of the anxiety symptoms at a certain degree. Certain foods, particularly organic in nature, are also effective in helping the patients to go through the treatment course and fasten the recovery process. It may not be the only key solution or main treatment, but modification in dietary intake would help the sufferers. In this chapter, we outline how anxiety and types of food are interrelated and different types of food could help or worsen the anxiety symptoms. Also, at the end of this chapter, we outline the effects of microbiome on human guts and anxiety symptoms.

Keywords Anxiety · Depression · Dietary · Panicogenic · Modification

R. Musa (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry, Kulliyyah of Medicine, International Islamic University Malaysia, Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia e-mail: drramli@iium.edu.my

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 W. Mohamed, F. Kobeissy (eds.), *Nutrition and Psychiatric Disorders*, Nutritional Neurosciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-5021-6_13

13.1 Introduction

13.1.1 What Are Anxiety Disorders?

Anxiety disorders are considered to be among common psychiatric disorders in our society that cause significant impact on an individual bearing the disease as well as causing burden on the country as a whole. The prevalence is ranging from 10 to 25%, and this is almost as common as depression. If we list down the common psychiatric disorders in our populations, anxiety and depression are the leading morbidity burden to the health system (Faravelli et al. 1989; Wittchen and Hoyer 2001).

It is reported by the National Health and Morbidity Survey (NHMS) in 2015 that there has been a triple increase of the prevalence of mental health issues in Malaysia from 10.7% in 1996 to 29.2% in 2016. Among the examples, disorders which are categorized under anxiety disorders are panic disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), social phobia, and agoraphobia. It is mentioned that since mental disorders such as depression, dysthymia, and anxiety account for a big proportion of the world's disease problem, they place a large burden on the healthcare system. The global burden of mental disorders was updated by the WHO World Mental Health that poor mental health is very prevalent across the world, with depression and anxiety being the leading common psychiatric disorders (National Health and Morbidity Survey 2019).

Symptoms of anxiety disorders can be divided into emotional symptoms (feeling anxious, worries, fear) and also somatic symptoms such as palpitation, tremor, gastric problem, urinary frequency, loss of appetite, chest tightness, and shortness of breath. Bear in mind that most of the depression cases are also presented with symptoms of anxiety, and these two disorders (anxiety and depression) are closely related. In general, anxiety and depression share many common issues such as similar psychodynamic etiology (lack of serotonin and noradrenaline in the brain) and commonly coexist together. They also share similar treatment modality, that is, antidepressants. Antidepressants are indicated as first-line treatment for both disorders (Clemente-Suárez 2020).

Since anxiety and depression may affect appetite and cause weight loss, these illnesses would have some effects on patient dietary intake, and types of food could influence the symptoms.

13.1.2 How Does Anxiety Could Be Related to Nutrition?

Let us try to figure out the first question. The first question is this: Is there any correlation between food intake and anxiety? It is very clear that the answer is YES. They are interrelated based on various ways.

Firstly, anxiety disorders are commonly presented with gastrointestinal track (GIT) symptoms. Among the common GIT symptoms presented by anxiety are gastric pain, gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), and diarrhea. To my observation and as commonly reported, GERD is one of the common symptoms reported by patients with anxiety, and many of my anxiety patients meet gastroenterologists (medical specialists in stomach and gastric problem) but to no improvement although they were given medication. It is not uncommon also for many of them to go through some investigation procedures such as oesophagogastroduodenoscopy (OGDS) to investigate the possibility of having gastritis or ulcer. It does not stop there; they are also prescribed many expensive medicines, particularly the H1 antagonist drugs for gastric pain or complete antibiotic course for *Helicobacter pylori* bacteria. However, the symptoms will not resolve or will just partially resolve (Ünal et al. 2013).

Patients with anxiety disorders are commonly considered as potential for "doctor shopping." The illness itself may exhibit with multiple body or somatic complaints. Among the common physical symptoms are numbness, instability (ataxia), tinnitus, urinary frequency, diarrhea, and body weakness. Based on my observation, I have many patients presented to me who met various specialists before coming to see a psychiatrist. Among other specialists that they had met are cardiologist (for symptoms of palpitation, chest tightness), gastroenterologist (for gastric pain), ENT specialist (for tinnitus and instability), and urologist (for urinary frequency) (Clemente-Suárez 2020).

Second way of correlation is that some of the food may worsen the anxiety; among them are caffeine and spicy food. Food that contains high level of caffeine is considered panicogenic in nature or a panic stimulant (Buhiji et al. 2020).

Growing evidence suggests that there is a link between food and mental health. Recently, the relationship between food intake and mental well-being has been gaining considerable interest. Reports by El-Merabbi et al. from the study done on animals suggest that the food the people consume interacts not only with the enteric nervous system but also with the central nervous system via neural, neuroendocrine, neuroimmune, and humoral links (Sarris et al. 2016; El-Merabbi et al. 2015).

The etiology of anxiety is very complex, be it from the biological, psychological, and social factors involved in inducing the mental illness. Study done by Hjorth et al. (2021) using PET scan proved that serotonin and dopamine play a role in the development of anxiety and its severity. It is proven by the Global Burden of Disease Study, 2010, that 18.9% of all years lived with disability are attributed with mental disorders. It is mentioned that since mental disorders such as depression, dysthymia, and anxiety account for a big proportion of the world's disease problem, they place a large burden on the healthcare system. The global burden of mental disorders was updated by the WHO World Mental Health that poor mental health is very prevalent across the world, with depression and anxiety being the leading common psychiatric disorders (Addolorato et al. 1996).

Anxiety is mainly stimulated by sympathetic nervous system; hence, any food or drug (such as amphetamine) that may stimulate this system, could worsen the anxiety. One of the anxiety symptoms is the feeling of food caught in your throat. Other anxiety symptoms are gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), regurgitation of food from stomach and from esophagus. Anxiety is strongly correlated with digestive system, heartburn, coughing, chest pain, problem swallowing, vomiting, sore throat, and hoarseness of voice (Butwicka et al. 2017).

Some foods can be a protective factor for not just anxiety, but also depression. In a study on the association of food groups with depression and anxiety disorders, Deborah Gibson-Smith found that lower depression and anxiety severity was associated with greater consumption of non-refined grains, fruits, and vegetables. Other types of food which have shown to be negatively associated with anxiety are fish and low-fat dairy. The mechanism is that these foods cause elevations of polyunsaturated fat/saturated fat ratios and have low trans fat.

13.1.3 Food and Brain Functions

It is well known that mood can affect the food choice of a person, using food as a comfort factor during stressful events, but there is also a mechanism that food triggers anxiety. Bad habits, such as poor nutrition, become one of the factors that create a biological basis for different pathologies and psychopathologies. People with nonoptimal nutrition profiles have been implicated with various underlying pathologies of behavioral health disorders due to insufficient nutrients essential in the neuroendocrine system. According to Sarris et al., nutrients which include tryptophan, vitamin B6, vitamin B12, folic acid, phenylalanine, tyrosine, histidine, choline, and glutamic acid are important for the development of neurotransmitters such as serotonin, dopamine, and norepinephrine, which are involved in mood, appetite, cognition, behavior (El-Merahbi et al. 2015), learning (El-Merahbi et al. 2015).

Lee and Choi (2017) also explained how the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) controls the secretion of cortisol and causes changes to the neurological system. It plays an important role in regulating human's emotion and memory since the hippocampus that regulates these functions in the human brain is connected anatomically with the HPA axis.

Hassan et al. (2014) added that anxiety bio-mechanism is being linked to inflammation and oxidative stress. It has been consistently found to modulate the anxietyrelated brain region such as in the anterior cingulate cortex, amygdala, and insula, which may have resulted from cytokine effects on the monoamine and glutamate. When there is increased circulating inflammatory cytokines, there is increase in oxidative stress and there will be generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) as well as reactive nitrogen species. This can be linked with panic disorders. Dietary intake is one of the sources of production of reactive oxygen species.

Hassan et al. (2014) also noted that antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, and glutathione peroxidase, when in the body, reduce molecules or nonenzymatic antioxidants. It also creates a defense mechanism that avoids the negative effects of ROS. However, in excessive concentration of

antioxidants, the cell reaches the antioxidative capacity and eventually leads to oxidative stress to the cell, damaging the cellular components.

It is stated by Bakhtiyari et al. that food and diet factors may be effective to regulate mental health during a lifetime from the adjustment of the risk of the brain changes. However, the mental disorders itself can affect the mood of the person, and this influences the habits of food intake, appetite, and choices of food that eventually creates an imperfect cycle by influencing the amount of nutrients, so this results in the exacerbation of the psychiatric illness itself.

13.1.4 Can Diet Modification or Healthy Diet Improve the Anxiety?

To answer whether diet modifiation could improve the anxiety, the answer is definitely yes. I strongly believe in the slogan of "we are what we eat." Many studies in the past mainly explored the associations between the effects of nutritious food and depression as compared to anxiety. These are among the modifications that we could adopt to improve the anxiety symptoms:

- 1. Food content: it is very important for anxiety sufferers to make some adjustment to the types of their diet. The main principle is healthy diet. Among the approaches in this strategy are putting more fiber in your food and including more grains, vegetables, and fruits in the daily dietary plan.
- Second approach is to make some modifications in the diet habit; the slogan of "eat less but frequent" can be quite helpful in reducing the stomach discomfort among anxiety patients.

The underlying cause of anxiety is diminishing of serotonin and melatonin neurotransmitters in the brain. Hence, any food that could increase serotonin or melatonin would have a positive effect on anxiety. Among foods that were cited to improve mild-to-moderate anxiety were banana, plum, tomato, and pineapple (Feldman and Lee 1985).

The diets that are associated with lower anxiety levels are those with healthy diet patterns, the Mediterranean diet, ketogenic diets, and gluten-free diets (GFD) in specific groups of people. Clemente-Suárez (2020) have proven that people with existing anxiety had improved their anxiety state and anxiety traits after 6 weeks of nutritional recommendation interventions with healthy diet patterns. However, it is stated by Boerema et al. (2016) that they expect relapse of the symptoms after 6 weeks of nutritional intervention, but no relapse of symptoms will be seen only after 8 months of completing the nutritional intervention. It is postulated that good nutrition provides the anti-inflammatory effect to the subject, giving reason why 8 months is needed to observe the effect and also adherence to the intervention.

Food that is considered to improve diet quality and mood resembles food mostly from the Mediterranean diet. These diets focus on lean meats, fish, green leafy vegetables, legumes, and nuts. Such food groups are rich in B-group vitamins, proving the possibility that there is a relationship between vitamin B intake and benefit to the brain health and mood. Sarris et al. (2016) stated that vitamin B is a cofactor in synthesizing and regulating the dopamine and serotonin neurotransmitters that help in clinical depression and anxiety, which are targeted by antidepressant medication. According to Sarris et al. and Scholey (2017), this has increased the acknowledgement that nutritional deficiency or suboptimal nutritional level heightens the risk for someone to have mood disorders and other psychiatric problems.

According to Ludwig (2020), a ketogenic diet with low amounts of carbohydrate consumption is good for weight mass optimization among people with psychiatric disorders for their possible anxiolytic effects. The diet is described as being low-carb high-fat (LCHF). By doing this, fat comprises >70% and sugar 5–15% of the daily food intake and the rest of the calories are supported with protein. There is my type of LCHF diet such as Atkins diet, modified Atkins, low glycemic index treatment diet, and medium-chain triglyceride ketogenic diet. Forte et al. (2016) in their writing suggested that for people adapting to a diet that induces ketosis, there is inhibition of glycolysis in the brain that reduces the excitation of the neuron by potentiation of GABA transmission via the steroid pathway. Nuss (2015) from their study done on animal subjects stated that there is reduction of anxiety level with infusions of GABA or GABA-A receptor agonists into the amygdala and there are anxiogenic effects upon infusion with GABA antagonists.

Gluten-free diet is also a good medium for people with intestinal disease such as celiac disease and also inflammatory bowel disease in terms of relieving the anxiety level. Since 1996, it has been proven by Addolorato et al. (1996) that people with inflammatory bowel disease and celiac disease are in a higher anxiety state compared to those healthy individuals. Butwicka et al. (2017) also proved that pediatric patients with celiac disease have a 1.4-fold higher anxiety level compared to the normal children. The study also concluded that malabsorption can be linked with brain function. So, there are various studies done across the years worldwide involving participants with IBD and celiac disease in the effects of gluten-free diet (GFD) in their anxiety level. Saadati et al. found that GFD reduces the somatic symptoms such as abdominal pain and bloating in IBD patients, which in turn reduces the anxiety level in Iran participants. The detailed effect of GFD on physiological symptoms remains unclear, but Van Hees et al. (2013) stated that the patients on GFD are linked with better psychological outcomes but only if the participants keep up with the GFD for more than 5 years. This might be due to the restoration of the intestinal lining, which improves the health of the patient as a whole, and this process takes years. The study also assumed that people with continuously untreated malabsorption disturbances can induce depressive symptoms. However, Rostami et al. (2022) reported that GFD, regardless of the duration, does not improve the anxiety level. It postulated that the anxiety symptoms might occur due to the diagnosis of the chronic disease itself, so GFD would not improve the anxiety symptom.

13.2 Food Improving Anxiety

Nguyen et al. (2017), in their study which has excluded people currently treated for anxiety and patients currently taking antidepressants, reported a positive association between consumption of fruits and vegetables, which acts as a protective factor, and anxiety. Same result was reported by Saghafian et al. (2018), Wu et al. (2018), Hodge et al. (2013), and Rienks et al. (2013). Study by Kose et al. (2021) showed that adolescents aged above 45 years old with lower consumption of fruits and vegetables have higher anxiety levels. Lee and Wan Muda on Malaysian adults proved that the intake of fruits and vegetables does not reach the recommendations.

As per Messamor and McNamara, it is suggested by the American Psychiatric Association for mentally ill persons to take at least 1 g of EPA and DHA daily in line with the American Heart Association. Martínez-Cengotitabengoa and González-Pinto mentioned that since 20% of the brain is composed of DHA, DHA constructs the cellular structure of the brain. All the omega-3 formulations give antiinflammatory mechanisms helping to maintain the brain cells' stability linking to the proper function of neurotransmitters such as serotonin and dopamine.

Hassan et al. (2014) mentioned in their writing that fresh apples and a diet rich in sucrose and honey improve antioxidant status and have anxiolytic effects. Certain antioxidants such as vitamin C, vitamin E, carotenoids, thiol antioxidants for example glutathione, thioredoxin, and lipoic acid, natural flavonoids, melatonin and other compounds are good for improving defense mechanism against ROS.

It is mentioned in the Epidemics by Hippocrates that clean keto version is mostly based on healthy macronutrients such as minimally processed food, for example fat sources such as egg yolk and polyunsaturated fatty acids such as olive, canola, and grapeseed oil, oily fish, and nuts. Fish, meat, cheese, and egg whites are recommended for protein sources. Carbohydrates are limited to mostly unprocessed food and low glycemic index from green vegetables, brown rice, and others.

People adapting to the LCHF diet need a professional dietician's guidance. The previously mentioned divalent ions linked to anxiety can also be supplied in the LCHF menu, such that zinc can be gained through zinc-rich foods such as oysters and other seafood, magnesium can be found mostly in green leafy vegetables, while selenium is found in seafood, poultry, fish, and eggs, which are all favorable choices in LCHF diets.

Young et al. found that there is a significant relationship between vitamin B supplementation and stress level but not with anxiety and depression, so it is suggested that vitamin B supplementation is not worth it for people with anxiety and depression. The same study also exposed that most of the studies done in the previous years used excessive vitamin B supplementation exceeding the recommended daily intakes between 2 and 300 times.

13.3 Dietary Patterns Causing Anxiety

The dietary patterns associated with higher anxiety level include unhealthy diet patterns, diet with recurrent fluctuation of glycemic level, and vegetarian diet. A 1-month study done by Robert et al. during the first lockdown due to COVID-19 in 2019 showed that people stayed at home and adapted with new eating behavior. Some people adapted unhealthy dietary patterns with less fruits and vegetables and more processed meat and snacking, and some people adapted healthy dietary patterns which are more pasta or rice and less snacking. Results showed that people with unhealthy diets are associated with higher anxiety levels compared to those with healthy dietary patterns.

According to Firth et al., repeated fluctuation of blood glucose can increase the risk of developing anxiety. These include high intake of sugar and refined carbohydrates, lower fiber intake, irregular meals, and no caloric restriction. High dietary glycemic load and the resultant compensatory mechanism to reduce the plasma glucose trigger the secretion of autonomic counter-regulatory hormones including cortisol, adrenaline, growth hormone, and glucagon. Towler et al. found that these hormones may cause changes in anxiety, irritability, and hunger. This statement is supported by Lee and Choi (2017); the pathologies occur due to hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA), which controls the secretion of cortisol and causes changes to the neurological system. The hippocampus, having an anatomical link with the HPA axis, plays a vital function in controlling human's emotion and memory.

In this situation, people with existing diabetes mellitus are vulnerable to develop anxiety due to poor glycemic control. Study done by Hendrieckx et al. suggested that there is a bidirectional relationship between diabetes mellitus and anxiety. In this context, patients with anxiety symptoms have higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus, and patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus have increased risk to develop anxiety disorders. A study done on Chinese individuals by Kose et al (2021) had shown that high-anxiety individuals aged under 45 years had significantly higher mean consumption of added simple sugars. High suger level has been associated with anxiety. However on other hand low sugar also could be related to anxiety. According to Seaquist et al., repeated low blood sugar levels are also associated with anxiety. In conclusion, moderate and well control of sugar is the best approach in anxiety control.

Woo, Kwok, and Celermajer stated that a vegetarian diet is well known due to the principle to have only vegetables and fruits in their diets, but people with this kind of diet may have insufficient essential nutrients such as vitamin B12, which eventually induces anxiety disorders. Lakin et al. also postulated that vegetarian diets also lack chain omega-3 fatty acids (EPA and DHA) that are a protective factor against anxiety. They concluded that this occurs due to the difference in bioavailability of certain nutrients such as iron, which is higher in animal sources than in plants. Therefore, people adapting vegetarian diets have limited absorption of iron from their diets.

13.4 Food Causing Anxiety

People take energy drinks to enhance alertness, physical ability, and cognitive enhancement. According to Bodenmann et al., in energy drinks, caffeine is the main component that causes GABA inhibition, phosphodiesterase modulation, ryanodine receptor activation, and A2 adenosine receptor antagonist. Caffeine presents naturally with different concentrations in many foods such as coffee, tea, and cocoa. Jin et al. stated that energy drinks have more caffeine than coffee and Coca-Cola and can cause attention problems, headache, anxiety, insomnia, overexcitement, and hyperactivity to the extent of causing death when taken excessively or being drunk with alcohol. Willson stated that it had also been used legally and safely as a mild stimulant before. However, caffeine consumption exceeding more than 1–1.5 g/day can cause caffeinism or caffeine poisoning. When this occurs, people consuming caffeine will experience anxiety, agitation, insomnia, gastrointestinal disorder, tremors, and mental disorders.

Richards and Smith also added that caffeine consumption can cause anxiety and increase the risk of relapse in secondary school children. Observational study done by Jahrami et al. on university students in Bahrain shows that students with higher caffeine intake have more anxiety-related symptoms such as headache, panic, feeling trapped or caught, worrying too much about things, anxiety, and psychological distress. Study done by Jin et al. on Korean adolescents stated that groups with higher caffeine intake are associated with higher anxiety levels.

Preservatives, flavoring agents, sweeteners, and coloring agents are commonly used as food additives in food manufacturing. Iwasaki et al. mentioned that antioxidants were added to food to avoid the degradation of food and fading of food's color. These antioxidants accumulate the reactive oxygen species (ROS) and stop ROS-induced oxidative DNA damage. However, mineral and trace elements are also found in many food and diet supplements such as iron and copper. When this ion interacts with antioxidants, the process produces ROS and causes DNA degradation in vitro. Study done by Bakhtiyari et al. (2013) proved that the level of anxiety level was obvious in people taking more processed food even after adjusting for the total calorie intake.

13.4.1 Relationships Between Caffeine and Anxiety

Based on the available evidence, the effects of caffeine to mental health are contradicting. Caffeine is said to be a mental stimulant. For this reason, it is considered as mental energy, whereby it causes increase in the level of arousal and better concentration to the extent of elevating the mood (Ferre 2008; Fredholm et al. 1999).

However, at a higher dose of caffeine, it could make the anxiety even worse. At this level, individuals would exhibit symptoms of restlessness, nervousness, panic, insomnia, and agitation. In general, caffeine sounds good for depression as it is stimulating but not for anxiety. Based on one systematic review on the effects of caffeine on panic disorder patients, about half of the patients would experience the panic attack after consumption of caffeine. This clearly shows that caffeine could trigger the panic attack among these vulnerable individuals (Buhiji et al. 2020). Caffeine can be found naturally in beans of coffee, some fruits, and leaves. The consumers should be aware that many energy drinks and soda contain caffeine as it was added by the drink manufacturers.

13.4.2 Other Types of Food Related to Anxiety

Many studies have proven that high fiber intake such as vegetables and fruits could lower the anxiety symptoms. A study done by Deborah Gibson showed that the magnitude of ability in reducing anxiety is 0.7, which is considered a modest effect (Khan and Khan 2016).

13.5 New Food Dimension

In the recent studies on a new dimension, probiotics have been shown to have positive effects on anxiety. The effects are more apparent to be seen among healthy adults with minor A allele of rs16944. This led the scientists to further this new area of "psychobiotics" (Gualtieri et al. 2020).

Tea contains antioxidants but also contains a small amount of caffeine, which is a stimulant.

13.6 Anxiety, Stress, and Inflammation

In the recent studies, depression and anxiety happen due to abnormal response toward stress and inflammation. The fact that there was an increase in the number of people with depression and anxiety may be in part due to current lifestyle including dietary intake and social demand, which could lead to abnormal stress response. Anxious patients have been studied to have increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines compared to healthy individuals (O'Donovan et al. 2010). This inflammatory state is particularly of our concern as it may ultimately cause neuroinflammation, possibly affecting mental health. Moreover, anxiety patients may be associated with stress-induced interleukin (IL)-6 activity, which results in alteration in gene expression in monocytes as can be seen in anxiety-like behavior in mice according to the study made by Niraula et al. (2019). Plus, this population also has reduced level of microbiome-derived short-chain fatty acid (SCFA), which is essential to prevent proinflammatory state ((Fukuda et al. 2011; Singh et al. 2010). Reduced SCFAs will also result in compromised intestinal barrier, thereby promoting microbial endotoxins to enter circulation and initiating an inappropriate immune response (Singh et al. 2010; Kelly et al. 2015).

Besides, stress often acts as a precipitator, which indirectly increases proinflammatory cytokine by dysregulating immune function as well as altering intestinal barrier permeability. The former acts as a preparation for human body to fight pathogen and helps in wound healing, while the latter is essential to increase water and sodium availability in the circulation. However, the diffusion of water and sodium into the circulation would also be accompanied by endotoxin and cause endotoxemia. This peripheral inflammation can actually induce central inflammation or neuroinflammation through the migration of activated immune cell into the brain as a result of endotoxemia. In short, stress-induced endotoxemia and increase in proinflammatory cytokine may cause neuroinflammation in brain, eventually affecting mental health.

13.7 Microbiome and Mental Health

Many points suggest that microbiome does influence mental health. First, patients with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) have shown to have a different microbiome composition compared to healthy population. They have reduced amount of five genera, which include Faecalibacterium, *Eubacterium rectale*, Lachnospira, Butyricicoccus, and Sutterella, as compared to normal population in which 70% of them come from the two most prominent phyla Firmicutes and Bacteroides, while Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Fusobacteria, and Verrucomicrobia are present in reduced numbers (Jiang et al. 2018; Peirce and Alviña 2019). This change in composition of microbiome will lead to reduced short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) compounds and indirectly disrupt appropriate immune response because of impaired intestinal permeability, ultimately affecting normal brain function.

In view of recent studies that suggest that microbes play a significant role in stress response, intestinal barrier, and immune system, use of probiotics and prebiotic in an effort to improve microbiome has been done (de Vrese and Schrezenmeir 2008). Probiotics are live microorganisms to provide health benefit by altering gut microbiome, while prebiotics are dietary fiber ingested to feed and promote balanced gut microflora (de Vrese and Schrezenmeir 2008). Sudo et al. proved in their study that colonizing *Bifidobacterium infantis* strain in germ-free mice could reduce previously exaggerated response of HPA axis to normal level similar to what is seen in normal control. However, they concluded that more research still needs to be done to validate the result in humans (Sudo et al. 2004). Besides, Ait-Belgnaoui et al. stated that *Lactobacillus farciminis* administration could enhance intestinal barrier, thus preventing endotoxemia from occurring and causing neuroinflammation in the brain (Ait-Belgnaoui et al. 2014). Plus, those given *B. infantis* have more proper immune response compared to control by giving anti-inflammatory signals to

immune cells. To sum it up, prebiotic and probiotic may potentially be used to treat anxiety by improving the response to stress, intestinal barrier, and immune response.

To date, it has been recognized that physiological pathways involving inflammatory and stress responses likely play a significant role in the occurrence of anxiety and depression (Benatti et al. 2016; Bekhbat and Neigh 2018; Dantzer et al. 2011). Much research had found that microbiome does affect mental health through various mechanisms that alter the normal inflammatory and stress response, which ultimately causes increase in the level of proinflammatory cytokine compared to normal population. However, the evidence that stress-induced inflammatory response causes anxiety alone is still inconclusive as the analysis may be confounded with depression, which is a common comorbidity associated with anxiety, and due to the fact that HPA axis alteration occurs in temporary state (Peirce and Alviña 2019). Our culture and upbringing in this current era can lead to underdeveloped immune system later in life, eventually posing risk to mental health. One of them is wide consumption of fast food, which may contribute to poor microbiome health. Further research should be made on the role of probiotic, prebiotic, and other possible approaches that can improve microbiome health so that a more effective targeted treatment can be achieved.

13.8 Conclusion

There are close relationships between anxiety symptoms and food that we are taking. Some types of food may give good effects to anxiety, and in contrast some are detrimental. It depends on the ingredient of food. Anxiety patients are advisable to do some modifications in their diet, particularly to avoid food containing panicogenic ingredients such as caffeine.

However, those who exhibit severe symptoms of anxiety and depression which affect their daily function are advisable to seek a proper medical treatment, particularly treatment with antidepressants. With dietary modification alone, it is very unlikely that the person could easily be cured from the illness.

Nutritional psychiatry is the new emerging field focusing on diet intervention as adjunct to pharmacological therapy and psychotherapy in treating people with anxiety. This includes diet counseling, education, and food as intervention to anxiety disorders. The proposed mechanism of relationship between food and anxiety includes the development of neurotransmitters that are involved in emotion regulation such as serotonin and dopamine which are lower in people with anxiety. Other mechanisms are HPA axis regulation that produces cortisol which is the stress hormone, inflammation and oxidative stress that trigger anxiety, and also production of ROS.

Lifestyle changes need to be promoted to the community so that people can eat healthily together, avoiding the development of noncommunicable diseases that are now existing, becoming a big burden to Malaysian health care. The dietary pattern that should need to be promoted to reduce the exacerbation and induction of anxiety includes healthy diet patterns, the Mediterranean diet, ketogenic diets, and glutenfree diets (GFD) in specific groups of people. They also need to avoid unhealthy diet patterns, diet with recurrent fluctuation of glycemic level, and vegetarian diet.

References

- Addolorato G, Stefanini GF, Capristo E, Caputo F, Gasbarrini A, Gasbarrini G (1996) Anxiety and depression in adult untreated celiac subjects and in patients affected by inflammatory bowel disease: a personality "trait" or a reactive illness? Hepato-Gastroenterology 43(12):1513–1517
- Ait-Belgnaoui A, Colom A, Braniste V, Ramalho L, Marrot A, Cartier C, Houdeau E, Theodorou V, Tompkins T (2014) Probiotic gut effect prevents the chronic psychological stress-induced brain activity abnormality in mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil 26(4):510–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/ NMO.12295
- Bakhtiyari M, Ehrampoush E, Enayati N, Joodi G, Sadr S, Delpisheh A et al (2013) Anxiety as a consequence of modern dietary pattern in adults in Tehran–Iran. Eat Behav 14(2):107–112
- Bekhbat M, Neigh GN (2018) Sex differences in the neuro-immune consequences of stress: focus on depression and anxiety. Brain Behav Immun 67:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2017. 02.006
- Benatti C, Blom JMC, Rigillo G, Alboni S, Zizzi F, Torta R, Brunello N, Tascedda F (2016) Disease-induced neuroinflammation and depression. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 15(4): 414–433. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871527315666160321104749
- Boerema AM, Cuijpers P, Beekman ATF et al (2016) Is duration of psychological treatment for depression related to return into treatment? Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 51:1495–1507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-016-1267-7
- Buhiji AR, Saleh MA, Kassim A (2020) The impact of caffeine in triggering panic attacks among adults with panic disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Can J Clin Nutr 8(1):69–94
- Butwicka A, Lichtenstein P, Frisén L, Almqvist C, Larsson H, Ludvigsson JF (2017) Celiac disease is associated with childhood psychiatric disorders: a population-based study. J Pediatr 184:87– 93
- Clemente-Suárez VJ (2020) Multidisciplinary intervention in the treatment of mixed anxiety and depression disorder. Physiol Behav 219:112858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2020. 112858
- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Kelley KW (2011) Inflammation-associated depression: from serotonin to kynurenine. Psychoneuroendocrinology 36(3):426–436. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.PSYNEUEN.2010.09.012
- de Vrese M, Schrezenmeir J (2008) Probiotics, Prebiotics, and Synbiotics. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 111:1–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2008_097
- El-Merahbi R, Löffler M, Mayer A, Sumara G (2015) The roles of peripheral serotonin in metabolic homeostasis. FEBS Lett 589(15):1728–1734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2015.05.054
- Faravelli C, Degl'Innocenti BG, Biardinelli L (1989) Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in Florence. Acta Psychiatr Scand 79(4):308–312
- Feldman JM, Lee EM (1985) Serotonin content of foods: effect on urinary excretion of 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid. Am J Clin Nutr 42:639–643
- Ferre S (2008) An update on the mechanisms of the psychostimulant effects of caffeine. J Neurochem 105:1067–1079
- Forte N, Medrihan L, Cappetti B, Baldelli P, Benfenati F (2016) 2-Deoxy-d-glucose enhances tonic inhibition through the neurosteroid-mediated activation of extrasynaptic GABAA receptors. Epilepsia 57(12):1987–2000. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.13578

- Fredholm BB, Battig K, Holmén J, Nehlig A, Zvartau EE (1999) Actions of caffeine in the brain with special reference to factors that contribute to its widespread use. Pharmacol Rev 51:83–133
- Fukuda S, Toh H, Hase K, Oshima K, Nakanishi Y, Yoshimura K, Tobe T, Clarke JM, Topping DL, Suzuki T, Taylor TD, Itoh K, Kikuchi J, Morita H, Hattori M, Ohno H (2011) Bifidobacteria can protect from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate. Nature 469(7331): 543–547. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09646
- Gualtieri P, Marchetti M, Cioccoloni G, De Lorenzo A, Romano L, Cammarano A, Colica C, Condò R, Di Renzo L (2020) Psychobiotics regulate the anxiety symptoms in carriers of allele A of IL-1β gene: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Mediat Inflamm:1–28
- Hassan W, Silva CE, Mohammadzai IU, da Rocha JB, Landeira-Fernandez J (2014) Association of oxidative stress to the genesis of anxiety: implications for possible therapeutic interventions. Curr Neuropharmacol 12(2):120–139
- Hjorth OR, Frick A, Gingnell M, Hoppe JM, Faria V, Hultberg S, Alaie I, Månsson K, Wahlstedt K, Jonasson M, Lubberink M, Antoni G, Fredrikson M, Furmark T (2021) Expression and co-expression of serotonin and dopamine transporters in social anxiety disorder: a multitracer positron emission tomography study. Mol Psychiatry 26(8):3970–3979. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41380-019-0618-7
- Hodge, A., Almeida, O. P., English, D. R., Giles, G. G., & Flicker, L. (2013). Patterns of dietary intake and psychological distress in older Australians: benefits not just from a Mediterrane
- Jiang H-Y, Zhang X, Yu Z-H, Zhang Z, Deng M, Zhao J-H, Ruan B (2018) Altered gut microbiota profile in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. J Psychiatr Res 104:130–136. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.JPSYCHIRES.2018.07.007
- Kelly CJ, Zheng L, Campbell EL, Saeedi B, Scholz CC, Bayless AJ, Wilson KE, Glover LE, Kominsky DJ, Magnuson A, Weir TL, Ehrentraut SF, Pickel C, Kuhn KA, Lanis JM, Nguyen V, Taylor CT, Colgan SP (2015) Crosstalk between microbiota-derived short-chain fatty acids and intestinal epithelial HIF augments tissue barrier function. Cell Host Microbe 17(5):662–671. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHOM.2015.03.005/ATTACHMENT/2F6D2942-B0E1-4DFA-8898-3D5AFB40A943/MMC1.PDF
- Khan S, Khan RA (2016) Healthy diet a tool to reduce anxiety and depression. J Depress Anxiety
- Kose J, Cheung A, Fezeu LK, Péneau S, Debras C, Touvier M, Hercberg S, Galan P, Andreeva VA (2021) A comparison of sugar intake between individuals with high and low trait anxiety: results from the NutriNet-Santé stud. Nutrients 13(5):1526
- Lee SY, Choi SH (2017) Depression and mortality in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab J 41(4):263–264
- Ludwig DS (2020) The ketogenic diet: evidence for optimism but high-quality research needed. J Nutr 150(6):1354–1359. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxz308
- National Health and Morbidity Survey (2019) Non-communicable diseases, healthcare demand, and health literacy. National Institutes of Health (NIH) Ministry of Health Malaysia. https://iptk.moh.gov.my/images/technical_report/2020/4_Infographic_Booklet_NHMS_2019_-_ English.pdf
- Nguyen B, Ding DM, Mihrshahi S (2017) Fruit and vegetable consumption and psychological distress: cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses based on a large Australian sample. BMJ 7(3):e014201. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014201
- Niraula A, Witcher KG, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP (2019) Interleukin-6 induced by social stress promotes a unique transcriptional signature in the monocytes that facilitate anxiety. Biol Psychiatry 85(8):679–689. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2018.09.030
- Nuss P (2015) Anxiety disorders and GABA neurotransmission: a disturbance of modulation. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 11:165–175. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S58841
- O'Donovan A, Hughes BM, Slavich GM, Lynch L, Cronin MT, O'Farrelly C, Malone KM (2010) Clinical anxiety, cortisol and interleukin-6: evidence for specificity in emotion–biology relationships. Brain Behav Immun 24(7):1074–1077. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2010.03.003
- Peirce JM, Alviña K (2019) The role of inflammation and the gut microbiome in depression and anxiety. J Neurosci Res 97(10):1223–1241. https://doi.org/10.1002/JNR.24476

- Rienks J, Dobson AJ, Mishra GD (2013) Mediterranean dietary pattern and prevalence and incidence of depressive symptoms in mid-aged women: results from a large community-based prospective study. Eur J Clin Nutr 67(1):75–82
- Rostami H, Parastouei K, Samadi M et al (2022) Adherence to the MIND dietary pattern and sleep quality, sleep related outcomes and mental health in male adults: a cross-sectional study. BMC Psychiatry 22:167. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-022-03816-3
- Saghafian F, Malmir H, Saneei P, Keshteli AH, Hosseinzadeh-Attar MJ, Afshar H et al (2018) Consumption of fruit and vegetables in relation with psychological disorders in Iranian adults. Eur J Nutr 57(6):2295–2306
- Sarris J, Murphy J, Mischoulon D, Papakostas GI, Fava M, Berk M, Ng CH (2016) Adjunctive nutraceuticals for depression: a systematic review and meta-analyses. Am J Psychiatry 173(6): 575–587
- Scholey A (2017) Nutrients for neurocognition in health and disease: measures, methodologies and mechanisms. Proc Nutr Soc 77(01):73–83. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0029665117004025
- Singh N, Thangaraju M, Prasad PD, Martin PM, Lambert NA, Boettger T, Offermanns S, Ganapathy V (2010) Blockade of dendritic cell development by bacterial fermentation products butyrate and propionate through a transporter (Slc5a8)-dependent inhibition of histone deacetylases. J Biol Chem 285(36):27601–27608. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M110.102947
- Sudo N, Chida Y, Aiba Y, Sonoda J, Oyama N, Yu XN, Kubo C, Koga Y (2004) Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal system for stress response in mice. J Physiol 558(1):263–275. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.2004.063388
- Ünal HÜ, Akin E, Aydin I, Korkmaz M, Özel S, Selçuk H, Yilmaz U (2013) Ongoing symptoms after eradication of Helicobacter pylori: psychiatric disorders may accompany. Turk J Gastroenterol 24:15–21
- Van Hees NJ, Van der Does W, Giltay EJ (2013) Coeliac disease, diet adherence and depressive symptoms. J Psychosom Res 74(2):155–160
- Wittchen HU, Hoyer J (2001) Generalized anxiety disorder: nature and course. J Clin Psychiatry 62(11):15–21
- Wu S, Fisher-Hoch SP, Reininger BM, McCormick JB (2018) Association between fruit and vegetable intake and symptoms of mental health conditions in Mexican Americans. Health Psychol 37(11):1059